No. 17-0357 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 
...' '-:::::=,,:,-====-=~...J 

OF 
.;y~. flORY L PERRY n. CLERK 
~.iit;. 8UPIlEME COURT Of APPEJIUi 

OFWESTVII!GINIA 

WEST VIRGINIA 

CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below-Respondent, 

v. 	 CIRCUIT COURT OF MINGO COUNTY, WV 


Case No. : Al6-F61 


MICHAEL DWAYNE COOPER, 

Defendant Below-Appellant. 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

SUSAN J. VAN ZANT, ESQUIRE 
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT 
WVSB#S448 
P.O. BOX 987 
WILLIAMSON, WV 25661 
304-235-4540

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. That the court erred in revoking the Defendant/Appellant's probation 

for a first offense of probation violation and should have sentenced him up to 60 

days in the regional jail. 



PETITION 

TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT 

OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Appellant, Michael Dwayne Cooper, was indicted by the Mingo County 

Grand Jury during the April 2016 term of 3 counts of Third Offense QUI in 

violation of West Virginia Code 17C-5-2(i); Driving revoked OUI in violation of 

West Virginia Code 17B-4-3(b); and Possession of Schedule I Controlled 

Substance pursuant to West Virginia Code 60A-4-401(c). 

Michael Dwayne Cooper entered a guilty plea on the 11th day of August 

2016, to Count I of the Indictment. Counts 2 and 3 were dismissed. Count I 

charged the appellant with Third Offense DUI, in violation of West Virginia Code 

Section 17C-5-2 (i). 

The penalty for Third Offense QUI as charged in Count I of the Indictment is 

confinement in a state correctional facility for an indefinite term of not less than 

one (1) nor more than three (3) years, and a fine of not less than three thousand 

($3,000.00) nor more than five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) at th~ discretion of 

the court. Probation is an option under WV Code 17C-5-2. An Order Granting 

Furlough was entered the 26th day of July 2016 to allow defendant to attend 

inpatient substance abuse treatment at Union Mission. 

On the 20th day of September 2016, the defendant/appellant was 

sentenced to an indefinite term of not less than one (1) year nor more than three 

(3) years for Count I, with no fine imposed. The court proceeded to grant an 

alternative sentence in response to Michael Dwayne Cooper's request to be 

allowed to remain on the furlough at Union Mission substance abuse program. 

The court admonished the defendant to complete the program at Union Mission, 

a 15 month substance abuse program or report to jail if he left the program early. 

The defendant/appellant left the Union Mission program in December 

2016. Shortly thereafter, he enrolled in a 28 day substance abuse program located 
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in Mingo County, Anchor Point. Mr. Cooper successfully completed Anchor Point 

and enrolled In an aftercare program through Logan-Mingo Mental Health. The 

"Rise" program is an eight week outpatient program. A Pick Up Order was issued 

for Mr. Cooper on January 5,2017. Defendant filed a motion to set aside the Pick 

Up Order. 

On the 23rd day of February 2017, a hearing was held in the Circuit Court of 

Mingo County, during which Mr. Cooper was placed on probation. He was 

granted probation for a period of two (2) years. A condition of the probation was 

that he attend the Rise program and report to probation every week regarding his 

progress and attendance. A Jail Release was entered February 23, 2017. An 

Order revoking defendant's home confinement was entered February 24,2017. 

A Hearing was held in the Circuit Court of Mingo County Circuit Court on 

March 2, 2017. Mr. Cooper was charged with a first offense, probation violation 

for faifing to show up at the home confinement office the day following his 

release from the Southwestern Regional Jail. He was released late Thursday 

evening, February 23,2017. He did not appear at the Home Confinement office 

until Monday, February 27,2017. The home confinement officer took him into 

custody and filed a probation violation. 

On March 2nd 2017, a hearing was held for home confinement revocation. 

Kevin Wilson, a Home Confinement officer testified that Mr. Cooper was released 

from the South Western Regional Jail on Thursday, February 23, 2017 after 

business hours. That he did not appear at the home confinement office on 

February 24, and an Order Revoking Home Confinement was filed on February 24, 

2017. The defendant came into the Home Confinement office voluntarily on 

Monday, February 27, at which time he was arrested. 

The Probation officer had not even had a chance to meet with him due to 

an illness to explain the rules of probation at the time of the revocation. A Final 

Revocation Hearing was held on March 7, 2017. During that hearing the 

defendant admitted to the probation violation. The court sentenced Mr. Cooper 

to the one to three year sentence over the objection of the defendant and 

recommendation of the prosecutor to sentence him up to 60 days in the regional 



jail for a first offense violation of his probation. The court preceded to suggest 

that the defendant file an appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court. March 7, 

2017 Hearing Transcript at page 24. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Michael Dwayne Cooper appeals the Sentence of March 7, 2017 as being 

excessive in nature as to violate his rights provided by the West Virginia statute. 

West Virginia Code 62-12-10 (2) provides for a period of confinement for 60 days 

in a regional jail for a first offense probation violation. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral Argument is requested by the Defendant/Appellant herein. 



ARGUMENT 

West Virginia Code 62-12-10 provides that: II if the judge finds that 

reasonable cause exists to believe that the probationer violated any condition of 

supervision other that the conditions of probation set forth in subdivision one of 

this subsection then for the first violation, the judge shall impose a period of 

confinement up to sixty days." The statute provides that first and second time 

violators of probation serve 60 days and 120 day sentences for violations of the 

conditions of probation, rather that immediate revocation of the suspended 

sentence. Revocation and imposition of the original sentence should only occur 

upon a third probation violation. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held that probation 1/ is a 

matter of grace not of right.'1 State v. Rose, Syl. Pt. 1, 156 W.Va. 342,192 S.E. 2d 

884 (1972). The Court in State v. Goodnight, at Syl. Pt. 4, held that sentences 

imposed by the trial court, if within the statutory limits and if not based on some 

impermissible factor are not subject to appellate review. 169 W.Va. 355, 287 S.E. 

2d 504 (1982). Probation has been held to be "a privilege of conditional liberty 

bestowed upon a criminal defendant through the grace of the circuit court ... and 

the decision as to whether the imposition of probation is appropriate in a certain 

case is entirely within the circuit couffS discretion.1I State v. Duke, 200 W.Va. 

356,489 S.E. 2d 738 (1997.) 

A three pronged standard of review should be applied when reviewing the 

findings of fact and conclusions of law of a circuit court sentencing a defendant 

following a probation revocation. Seel State v. Duke at Syl. Pt.l. The Duke court 

held that, II the review of the decision on the probation revocation motion under 

an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly 

erroneous standard; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and 

rules are subject to a de novo review." Also see, State v. Hosby,Syl. Pt. 1, 220 

W.Va. 560, 648 S.E. 2d 66 (2007) 

Appellant contends that the question of law and interpretation of West 

Virginia Code Section 62-12-10 by the circuit court should be subject to a de nova 

review. The underlying facts should also be reviewed by a clearly erroneous 
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standard. The probation revocation should also be analyzed under an abuse of 

discret;on standard. 

It is clear from a review of the March 7/ 2017 hearing transcript that the 

circuit court was confused as to the facts of the matter. The court stated that she 

did not think the defendant was placed on probation. See, Page 20 of the March 

7,2017 Hearing Transcript. 

"Well, I don't think he was placed on probation." lines 6-7, page 20 

However, on February 23, 2017 the circuit court entered an Order releasing 

the defendant on home confinement and two years of probation. An Order was 

entered on February 24, 2017 alleging a violation of probation and revoking 

defendant's home confinement. 

The defendant admitted that he did not report to the home confinement 

office the day following his release from incarceration and did not make it into 

the office until the following Monday. He was arrested on the probation violation 

on that date and has remained incarcerated since that time. 

The court abused it's discretion in concluding that Mr. Cooper had 

committed probation violations in the past and therefore, his probation should be 

revoked and sentenced to a one to three year sentence. The court's reliance on 

facts that were not accurate is clearly erroneous and should be reversed. 

The court sought to use situations that occurred when Mr. Cooper was on a 

furlough prior to sentencing. He had previously been granted a furlough to live at 

Union Mission and participate in the substance abuse program at that facility. He 

left the program and instead of turning himself in, enrolled in another inpatient 

substance abuse program which he successfully completed. The defendant was 

not on probation at that time. He was not granted probation for this offense until 

February 23, 2017 which was revoked on February 24,2017. 

The February 24, 2017 Revocation Order states in pertinent part," Be 

it remembered that the defendant herein, Michael Dwayne Cooper, was 



previously placed on electronic home confinement as a condition of his 

probation." 

Mr. Cooper had not even been read the rules of probation by his probation 

officer. Probation Officer Webb stated during the March 7, 2017 hearing that she 

had not met with him to review the rules prior to his revocation for not following 

the rules. 

Finally, the circuit court's interpretation of West Virginia Code Section 62
12-10 should be subject to a de nova review. The statute clearly states at section 

62-12-10 (2), that the penalty for a first offense probation violation is a sentence 

of up to 60 days in the regional jail. The court tries to tack on rules violations 

from when the defendant was on a furlough. However, he was not formally or 

informally charged with any violation prior to February 24,2017. His Home 

Confinement was revoked prior to entering his plea, but the defendant was 

allowed to continue his furlough after he pled gUilty to the Third Offense OUI. The 

home confinement violation was prior to entering the plea. Even if that is 

considered a first offense and the February 24,2017 violation is a second 

probation violation the statute provides that he should be sentenced up to one 

hundred twenty days. 

Not until a 3,d violation maya judge revoke the probation and impose the 

original sentence. See, West Virginia Code 62-12-10 (2). 

CONCLUSION 

The error of the trial court to revoke the defendant's probation for a first 

offense violation the day after he was placed on probation is in violation of West 

Virginia Code 62-12-10 and should be reversed.