ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The Petitioner contends that he was awarded probation and that the circuit court lacked the 

authority to execute full sentence on him because West Virginia Code § 62-12-1 0(a)(2) only allows 

for a maximum sixty-day incarceration for a first offense probation ·violation. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Petitioner was indicted for one count of 3rd Offense Driving under the Influence, one 

count of Driving Revoked for DUI and one count of Possession of a Schedule I Controlled 

Substance, marijuana. A.R. 35-36. While his case was pending, and while he was on home 

confinement, he was granted a medical furlough to attend Anchor Point Residential Treatment 

Center for inpatient substance abuse treatment. A.R. 57. The Petitioner was subsequently seen at 

the Southside Mall when he should have been in treatment. A.R. 60. The Petitioner was 

administered an instant drug screen showing presumptively positive results for benzodiazepines, 

buprenorphine, and marijuana. A.R. 60. The circuit court revoked the home confinement. A.R. 60. 

In August of 2016, the Petitioner and the State entered a plea agreement whereby the 

Petitioner pled guilty to the Third Offense DUI and the State dropped the remaining charges. A.R. 

66-85. By Order of August 11,2016, the circuit court accepted the plea agreement. AR. 63-64. 

The circuit court then granted the Petitioner a medical furlough to allow the Petitioner to secure a 

bed at Union Mission Rehabilitation Center and enroll in the Foundations Ad~ction Recovery 

Program (FAR Program). AR. 64. The order made it clear that "should [the Petitioner] leave the 

Program at Union Mission Ministries for any reason, he is to FORTHWITH report back to the 

Southwestern Regional Jail at Holden, West Virginia." AR. 64 (emphasis in original). 



At the formal sentencing hearing in this case, the Petitioner's counsel informed the circuit 

court that the Petitioner was doing well at the FAR program and that he required 15 months to 

complete it. A.R. 4. The circuit court sentenced the Petitioner to 1 to 3 years in a State correctional 

facility on the 3rd Offense DUI but did not impose a fine. A.R. 5. The circuit court then granted 

the Petitioner an alternate sentence of 15 months at Union Mission to complete the FAR program. 

A.R. 5. See also A.R. 86-87 (written sentencing order granting alternative sentencing, "It is further 

ORDERED that the Defendant's request for the alternative sentence is GRANTED. It is further 

ORDERED that the sentence by [sic] suspended and that the Defendant attend the Union Mission 

for 15 months until completion ofthe program. Further, the Court ORDERED that ifthe Defendant 

leaves the Union Mission before the progranl is completed, he shall report immediately to the 

Southwestern Regional Jail to serve the sentence imposed above."). 

The circujt court entered a "pick-up order" on January 5, 2017. A.R. 89. This ''pick-up 

order" explained that the Petitioner had been dismissed from the FAR program after testing 

positive for drugs upon his return to Union Mission from a Christmas break. A.R. 89. On February 

9,2017, the Petitioner filed a "Motion to Set Aside Pick Up Order" where in he admitted to having 

been released from the FAR Program for a positive drug screen, but informed the circuit court that 

he had enrolled in Anchor Point, an inpatient substance abuse facility, after having been dismissed 

from Union Mission's FAR Program. A.R .90. The Petitioner's Motion requested the Court allow 

him to complete the Anchor Point program and to enroll in "The Rise Program," what the motion 

termed "an intense 8 week program that meets daily." A.R. 90. 

On February 23, 2017, the circuit court conducted a hearing on the "Motion to Set Aside 

Pick Up Order." At the hearing, the Petitioner's counsel told the circuit court, "1 think [the 

Petitioner] needs to be placed on probation now." A.R. 17. The circuit court responded, "[t]hen 
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that's what I'm going to do, because if he doesn't do this he's not going to get credit for any of 

this time." A.R. 18. The circuit court then ruled from the bench, "Ail right; Home confmement, 

probation; A condition ofprobation that he goes to this rehab and has them report every week as 

to his progress and attendance." AR. 18. The circuit court concluded, "Probation will be for a 

period oftwo (2) years, and have him meet with Ms. Webb before he leaves today." AR. 18.' On 

February 23,2017, the circuit court entered an order releasing the Petitioner from jail. A.R. 115. 

The jail release form did not have the "probation" box marked. A.R. 115. The "other" box was 

marked and contained a handwritten annotation, "released on Home ConfinementlProbation-2 

years." A.R. 115. 

The Petitioner was released from jail on February 23, 2017. AR. 100. On February 24, 

the circuit court entered an order revoking his release. A.R. 100. This Order identified that the 

Petitioner was ordered to report to the home confinement office upon his release. A.R. 100. The 

order recited that the Petitioner had been released at 5:20 p.m. on Thursday, February 23, 2016 

[sic], but as of2:00 p.m. on Friday February 24,2017, the Petitioner failed to report or contact the 

home confinement office. A.R. 100. 

At a hearing On March 2, 2017, Mingo County Home Confmement Officer Kevin Wilson 

testified that the Petitioner was sentenced to home confinement as a condition of probation. A.R. 

21. Mr. Wilson confirmed that the Petitioner did not report to, or contact, the home confinement 

office on Friday the 24th ofFebruary. A.R. 22.2 The circuit court concluded that the State had made 

1Ms. Webb is apparently a probation officer. See A.R. 23, 33. 


'Mr. Wilson testified that the Petitioner did not report to the home confmement office until Monday, 

February 27,2017. A.R. 22, 24-25. 
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out a case that probable cause existed that the Petitioner had violated his home confinement and 

set the case for a final hearing. A.R. 26. 

A final revocation hearing was held on March 7, 2017. At this hearing, the Petitioner's 

counsel asserted that the Petitioner was on probation and that any violation ofhis probation could 

only result in a maximum term of sixty-days pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-12-10. AR. 

28.The Prosecuting Attorney stated, "I agree with Ms. Van Zant. That is the applicable law and 

that is the Rille, and I would ask the Court consider that." A.R. 28. The circuit court, however, 

rejected the Petitioner's argument, instead fmding that the Petitioner never reported to the 

probation office as required to accept the terms of probation which the circuit court found was a 

sine qua non of a valid probation. AR. 32 ("THE COURT: ... my finding will be that he was 

never actually placed on probation because he didn't show up to probation even to be revoked, so 

what the Court is going to do is to suspend his suspended sentence and sentence him to one (l) to 

three (3) to the DOC."); A.R. 33 ("THE COURT: ... I think in order for you to be on probation 

that you're going to have to agree to the terms. Ms. Webb, is that a fair assessment? PROBATION 

OFFICER WEBB: I would believe so, Your Honor."); A.R. 33 ("THE COURT: ... We're not 

here on a probation revocation, and Mr. Jewell was correct. [The Petitioner] wasn't placed on 

probation to even have it revoked, so there we go."). 

Thereupon, on March 16, 2017, the circuit court entered a "Probation Revocation Order 

and Sentencing Order." AR. 104. In this Order, the circuit court found that. "On February 23,2017, 

the [petitioner] was placed on probation with the condition of electronic home confinement" and 

further finding that "On February 24, 2017, an order was entered Revoking Home Confinement of 

the Defendant." A.R. 104. The order additionally found that "[t]he [petitioner] did not report to 

the Home Confinement Officer or the Mingo County Probation Office when he was released from 
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the Southwestern Regional Jail." A.R. 104. The Order's findings concluded that "[nhe [petitioner] 

has violated the tenns of his probation and electronic home confinement." A.R. 104. The circuit 

court then executed sentence on the Petitioner and committed him to prison for 1 to 3 years on the 

3rd Offense nUl charge. A.R. 105. 

The Petitioner filed an "Objection to Sentencing Order" arguing that West Virginia Code 
. . 

§ 62-12-10 prohibited the circuit court from executing sentence on him and limiting the circuit 

court to imposing a maximum sixty day jail sentence. A.R. 108-109. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

West Virginia Code § 62-12-10 provides that ifia defendant is on probation, a first offense 

probation violation can generally result in a maximum of a sixty day period of incarceration in the 

regional jail. The Petitioner claims the circuit court erred in executing sentence on the Petitioner 

because he was on probation and the maximum penalty that could be imposed on him was sixty 

days. However. West Virginia Code § 62-12-10 is only applicable if the defendant is actually on 

probation. Unless a defendant accepts the terms of probation the probation is not effective or 

operative and the defendant is not on probation. The Petitioner in the instant case never accepted 

the terms of probation and, perforce, was never on probation. Consequently, the circuit court did 

not err in executing sentence on the Petitioner. 

Moreover, even if the Petitioner was on probation. the circuit court still did not err. West 

Virginia Code § 62-12-1 O(a)(I)(A) authorizes immediate execution of sentence when a defendant 

absconds supervision. Here, the Petitioner was ordered to report to the home confmement office 

on Friday, February 24, but did not do so. He therefore absconded supervision, a ground which 

authorized immediate execution of sentence. 
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(2) If the judge fmds that reasonable cause exists to believe that the probationer 
violated any condition of supervision other than the conditions of probation set 
forth in subdivision (l) ofthis subsection then, for the first violation, the judge shall 
impose a period of confinement up to sixty days or, f01' the second violation, a 
period of confinement up to one hundred twenty days. For the third violation, the 
judge may revoke the suspension of imposition or execution of sentence, impose 
sentence ifnone has been imposed and order that sentence be executed, with credit 
for time spent in confinement under this section. 

"This Cowt has held that i.n deciding the meaning of a statutory provision, • (w]e look first 

to the statute's language. lithe text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the 

language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed. m State v. Louk, 237 W. Va. 200, 204, 786 

S.E.2d 219, 223 (2016) (quoting Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't, 195 W.Va. 573, 587, 

466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995». 

W~st Virginia Code § 62-12-10(a)(2), the Code provision upon which the Petitioner relies, 

PeCr Br. at 9, uses the telln "probationer." It is axiomatic that in order to be on probation, a person 

must accept the probation; until the defendant accepts the probation, there is no probation. A.R. 

33 ("THE COURT: ... but this Court's ruling will remain the same and that he never agreed to 
. . 

the terms of probation and I think in order for you to be on probation that you're going to have to 

agree to the tenns. Ms. Webb, is that a fair assessment? PROBA nON OFFICER WEBB: I would 

believe so YOUl' Honor."). See Thompson v. State, 706 So. 2d 860,861 (Ala. Ct. erim. App. 1997) 

(quoting Cannon v. State, 624 So.2d 238, 239 (Ala. Ct. Cr. App.1993) (quoting Persall v. State, 

16 So.2d 332,335 (Ala. Ct. Cr. App.1944)) ('''''[a] probation is subject to rejection or acceptance 

by the convict. He has an unfettered election in that regard, and the court order is not effective or 

operative until it has been accepted by him."'''). There is no indication in the record in this case 
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that the Petitioner ever accepted the terms of probation. Therefore, the Petitioner was never 

actually on probation and West Virginia Code § 62-12-10 is simply inapplicable.3 

The only valid alternative sentence that the Petitioner had was the alternative sentence 

granted to him to attend the FAR Program at the Union Mission. A.R. 86-88. The order imposing 

that sentence clearly provided that if the Petitioner left the FAR Program before the Petitioner 

completed it, then the Court would execute the 1 to 3 year 3rd offense DUl sentence. A.R. 87. 

There is no dispute that the Petitioner flouted that condition of the alternative sentence by doing 

drugs and being dropped from the FAR Program. Consequently, the circuit court was well within 

its discretion to execute sentence on the Petitioner. 

Alternatively, this Court is not limited to the rationale the court below employed, but may 

affirm on any basis evident from 'the record. Syl. Pt. 3, Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 

S.E.2d 466 (1965) ("This Court may, on appeal, affirm the judgment of the lower court when it 

appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of 

the ground,reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment. "). See also 

Weirton Ice & Coal Co. v. Weirton Shopping Plaza, Inc., 175 W. Va. 473, 476 n.1, 334 S.E.2d 

611, 614 n.l (1985) ( ... we may affirm the decision of that court when it appears that such 

judgment is correct on any ground disclosed by the record regardless ofthe reason assigned by the 

trial court for its judgment. "). It is evident from the record in this case that the Petitioner absconded 

from supervision, which authorizes immediate execution of sentence. See W. Va. Code § 62-12

lO(a)(l)(A). 

3Admittedly, the circuit court entered an Order on March 16,2017, indicating that the Petitioner was on 
probation and probation was revoked. AR. 104. This Order is one of those rare circumstances where the 
circuit court order was clearly erroneous because the record in this case simply does not support any legal 
conclusion that the Petitioner ever accepted probation, a sine qua non of having an effective or operative 
probation. 
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The Petitioner did not report to the probation or home confinement office when he was 

released from jail; rather, he basically took the week-end off and did not report until Monday. His 

failure to report constituted absconding from supervision and the circuit court was within its 

statutory authority to revoke probation and execute sentence. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court of Mingo County, West Virginia, should be 

affirmed.